CHIROPRACTORS BILL

EXPLANATORY NOTE

THIS Bill makes provision for the registration of chiropractors.

PART I

Administration

Clause 3 provides for the constitution of a Chiropractic Board, consisting of a barrister (as Chairman) and four chiropractors (of whom two are to be nominated by the New Zealand Chiropractors' Association Incorporated).

Clause 4 deals with meetings of the Board.

Clause 5 sets out the functions of the Board.

Clause 6 provides for the appointment of a Registrar of Chiropractors, who will also act as Secretary to the Board.

Clause 7 provides for a Chiropractic Disciplinary Committee of three members, to be appointed by the Association. Their function will be to make preliminary investigations of complaints under *clause* 21.

Clause 8 deals with the remuneration and allowances of the Board and Committee.

PART II

REGISTRATION

Clause 9 sets out the qualifications required for registration as a chiropractor.

Clauses 10, 11, and 13 to 19 relate to applications for registration and the keeping and correction of the register.

Clause 12 gives the Association the right to object to the registration of any applicant.

Clause 20 authorises the Board to remove a person's name from the register, or suspend his registration, where similar action has been taken overseas in respect of that person.

104-1

PART III

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Clause 21 provides for the preliminary investigation of written complaints by the Chiropractic Disciplinary Committee.

Clause 22 sets out the disciplinary powers of the Board, which may be exercised only where a complaint has been referred to the Board by the Disciplinary Committee.

Clause 23 gives a right of appeal to a Board of Appeal against any decision of the Board relating to registration, removal, suspension, or the imposition of a penalty.

Clause 24 makes the usual provision for a licence to be obtained from the Board before a person discharged from a mental hospital may resume practice.

Clause 25 makes it an offence for a person to advertise himself as a chiropractor or chiropractic expert, or to hold himself out as a registered chiropractor or as a person practising or qualified to practise as a chiropractor, unless he is registered.

Clause 26 makes it an offence for a person to advertise himself as a teacher of chiropractic without the authority of the Board.

Clause 27 requires registered chiropractors to have annual practising certificates.

Clause 28 authorises the Board to approve any institution maintained or controlled by the Association or by any other body of persons as a training school.

Clause 29 makes offences against the Bill punishable summarily.

Clause 30 relates to evidence of registration.

Clause 31 amends the Radioactive Substances Act 1949. The effect is that licences under that Act to use irradiating apparatus for chiropractic diagnostic purposes may be granted to registered chiropractors.

Clause 32 provides that fees under the Bill are to be paid to the Public Account, and that the expenses of administering the Act are to be paid out of money appropriated by Parliament.

Clause 33 authorises the making of regulations.

Clause 34 repeals the Chiropractors' Association Act 1955.

ii

Hon. Mr Mason

CHIROPRACTORS

ANALYSIS

Title

1. Short Title. Commencement

2. Interpretation

PART I

Administration

- 3. Chiropractic Board constituted
- 4. Meetings of the Board
- 5. Functions of Board
- 6. Registrar of Chiropractors
- 7. Chiropractic Disciplinary Committee
- 8. Remuneration and travelling expenses

PART II

REGISTRATION

- 9. Qualifications for registration
- 10. Application for registration
- 11. Applications to be considered by Board
- 12. Objections by Association 13. Registrar to observe directions of Board
- 14. Register of Chiropractors
- 15. Certificate of registration
- 16. Penalty for wrongfully procuring registration

17. Chiropractors to notify change of address

- 18. Name to be removed from register if chiropractor cannot be found 19. Correction of register
- 20. Removal of name from register or suspension where similar action taken outside New Zealand

PART III

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 21. Preliminary consideration of disciplinary cases by Committee
- 22. Disciplinary powers of Board
- Appeals from decisions of Board
 Appeals from decisions of Board
 Registered chiropractors resuming practice after discharge from mental hospital
 Offense humanity powers of board
- 25. Offences by unregistered persons 26. Offence to advertise as teacher of chiropractic unless authorised by Board
- 27. Chiropractors to have annual practising certificates
- Approval of training colleges, etc.
 Offences punishable summarily
 Certificate of Registrar to be evi-
- dence of registration
- 31. Licences under Radioactive Substances Act 1949
- 32. Application of fees, etc. 33. Regulations
- 34. Repeal and savings
- 104 1

A BILL INTITULED

An Act to make provision for the registration of chiropractors

BE IT ENACTED by the General Assembly of New Zealand in Parliament assembled, and by the authority of the same, as follows:

5

25

1. Short Title. Commencement—(1) This Act may be cited as the Chiropractors Act 1959.

(2) This Act shall come into force on the first day of January, nineteen hundred and sixty-one.

2. Interpretation—In this Act, unless the context otherwise 10 requires,—

"Association" means the New Zealand Chiropractors' Association Incorporated:

"Board" means the Chiropractic Board constituted under this Act: 15

"Chiropractic" means the examination and adjustment by hand of the segments of the human spinal column and pelvis for the purpose of removing interference to the free transmission and expression of nerve energy: 20

"Chiropractor", or "registered chiropractor", means a person registered as a chiropractor under this Act:

"Minister" means the Minister of Justice:

"Prescribed" means prescribed by this Act, or by regulations made under this Act:

"Registrar" means the Registrar of Chiropractors appointed under this Act.

PART I

Administration

3. Chiropractic Board constituted—(1) There is hereby 30 constituted a Board, to be known as the Chiropractic Board.

- (2) The Board shall consist of-
- (a) A barrister of the Supreme Court of New Zealand, who shall be the Chairman of the Board; and
- (b) Four chiropractors, of whom two shall be nominated 35 by the Association.

(3) The members of the Board shall be appointed by the Governor-General on the recommendation of the Minister, and shall be appointed for a term of three years, save that any member may from time to time be reappointed, or may 40

1.1.1.4

be at any time removed from office by the Governor-General for disability, insolvency, neglect of duty, or misconduct, or may at any time resign his office by writing addressed to the Registrar.

5 (4) If any appointed member of the Board dies, is removed from office, or resigns, the vacancy so created shall be filled in the manner in which the appointment to the vacant office was originally made. Every person so appointed shall be appointed for the residue of the term for which his prede-10 cessor was appointed.

(5) Unless he sooner vacates his office as provided in the last preceding subsection, every member of the Board shall continue in office until his successor comes into office, notwithstanding that the term for which he was appointed may 15 have expired.

(6) The powers of the Board shall not be affected by any vacancy in the membership thereof.

4. Meetings of the Board—(1) The Chairman shall preside at all meetings of the Board at which he is present, and
20 in his absence the other members of the Board shall choose one of their number to preside at that meeting as Chairman.

(2) At every meeting of the Board three members shall form a quorum.

(3) Every question before the Board shall be determined25 by a majority of the votes of the members present at a meeting of the Board.

(4) The Chairman at any meeting shall have a deliberative vote, and in the case of an equality of votes shall also have a casting vote.

30 (5) Except as expressly provided in this Act or in regulations made thereunder, the Board may regulate its procedure in such manner as it thinks fit.

5. Functions of Board—The functions of the Board shall be—

35 (a) To advise and make recommendations to the Minister in respect of any matter affecting the profession of chiropractic:

- (b) To determine courses of training and instruction to be undergone by candidates for examination under this Act:
- (c) To approve institutions at which the whole or any part of any course of training or instruction for the purposes of this Act may be undergone:

- (d) To conduct examinations under this Act; to appoint examiners and make all necessary arrangements for the purposes of the examinations; and to issue certificates of having passed examinations to persons entitled thereto:
- (e) To receive applications for registration under this Act; and to authorise registration in proper cases:
- (f) To have regard to the conduct of persons registered under this Act:
- (g) Generally, within the scope of its authority, to do what- 10 ever may in its opinion be necessary for the effective administration of this Act.

6. Registrar of Chiropractors—(1) There shall from time to time be appointed, under the Public Service Act 1912, a Registrar of Chiropractors.

(2) The Registrar shall act as Secretary to the Board.

7. Chiropractic Disciplinary Committee—(1) There shall be a Committee to be called the Chiropractic Disciplinary Committee.

(2) The Committee shall consist of three members, to be 20 appointed by the New Zealand Chiropractors' Association Incorporated, of whom one shall be so appointed as Chairman.

(3) No person shall be appointed as a member of the Committee unless he is a member of the Association, and no member of the Board shall be appointed as a member of the 25 Committee.

(4) Every member of the Committee shall, unless he sooner vacates his office, hold office for a term of one year, but may from time to time be reappointed.

(5) If any member for the Committee ceases to be a 30 member of the Association, or becomes incapable of performing the duties of his office as a member of the Committee, or becomes a member of the Board, his office as a member of the Committee shall be thereby vacated; and in any such case, or in the case of the death or resignation of a member 35 of the Committee, the Association shall appoint some qualified person to fill the vacancy. Every person so appointed shall hold office for the residue of the term of office of his predecessor.

(6) The powers of the Committee shall not be affected by 40 any vacancy in the membership thereof.

(7) The decision of any two members of the Committee shall be the decision of the Committee.

4

5

(8) Subject to the foregoing provisions of this section, the Committee may regulate its procedure as it thinks fit.

8. Remuneration and travelling expenses—(1) The Board and the Chiropractic Disciplinary Committee are hereby
5 declared to be statutory Boards within the meaning of the Fees and Travelling Allowances Act 1951.

(2) There shall be paid to the members of the Board and to the members of the Chiropractic Disciplinary Committee, and to any assessors appointed under section <u>twenty-three</u> of

- 10 this Act, out of money appropriated by Parliament for the purpose, remuneration by way of fees, salary, or allowances, and travelling allowances and expenses, in accordance with the Fees and Travelling Allowances Act 1951, and the provisions of that Act shall apply accordingly as if any such
- 15 assessors (as well as the members of the Board and of the Committee) were members of a statutory Board within the meaning of that Act.

PART II

REGISTRATION

- 20 9. Qualifications for registration—(1) Every person shall be entitled to be registered under this Act who satisfies the Board—
 - (a) That, being the holder of a recognised certificate (as hereinafter defined), he has obtained a certificate of competency as a chiropractor after examination in accordance with regulations made under this Act;
 - or(b) That he is the holder of a certificate or other documentary evidence of qualification, issued before the
 - commencement of this Act, which satisfies the Board that he has qualified as a chiropractor; or
 - (c) That he has had in New Zealand, before the commencement of this Act, sufficient practical and theoretical experience in chiropractic as in the opinion of the Board will enable him to perform efficiently the duties of a chiropractor.

(2) No person shall be entitled to be registered as a chiropractor under paragraph (b) or paragraph (c) of subsection one of this section unless he makes application for registration
 40 within one year after the commencement of this Act.

35

25

(3) For the purposes of this section, the term "recognised certificate" means a certificate, diploma, degree, or licence granted by any approved college, school, or other authority and recognised by the Board as furnishing sufficient evidence of the possession by the holder thereof of the requisite know-5 ledge and skill for the efficient practice of the profession of chiropractic; and for the purposes of this subsection the term "approved college, school, or other authority" means an institution approved by the Board under section twenty-eight of this Act. 10

(4) Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing provisions of this section, but subject to the provisions of section twentythree of this Act as to appeals, no person shall be registered under this Act if, in the opinion of the Board, he is not of good character and reputation.

(5) No person who is less than twenty-one years of age shall be registered under this Act.

10. Application for registration—(1) Every application for registration as a chiropractor under this Act shall be made in writing addressed to the Registrar, and shall be accom- 20 panied by the prescribed fee.

(2) Every application for registration shall be accompanied by a copy thereof which, on receipt by the Registrar, shall be forthwith forwarded by him to the Association.

11. Applications to be considered by Board—(1) As soon 25 as practicable after the receipt of any application for registration the Board shall consider the application and shall give such directions in respect thereof as it thinks fit and as are hereinafter authorised.

(2) Before giving any such directions the Board may, if it 30 thinks fit, examine on oath or otherwise the applicant, or any person objecting to the application, or any other person, with respect to the application; and for the purposes of this subsection the Chairman of the Board may administer an oath 35 to any person.

(3) The Board may also, if it thinks fit, require any person to verify by statutory declaration any statement made by him with respect to any application or with respect to any objection to an application.

12. Objections by Association—(1) Within one month after the receipt by the Association of a copy of any application as aforesaid, the Association may give notice in writing to the Registrar of its desire to object to the registration of

5 the applicant, and of the grounds of the objection. A copy of the notice shall forthwith be sent by the Association to the applicant.

(2) The Board shall appoint a convenient time and place for hearing the objection, and shall give notice thereof in10 writing to the applicant and to the Secretary of the Association at least seven clear days before the time so appointed.

(3) Both the applicant and the Association shall be entitled to be present and to be heard, and may be represented by counsel or otherwise, at the hearing of the objection.

15 **13. Registrar to observe directions of Board**—(1) If the Board, after considering any application as aforesaid, is of opinion that the applicant is entitled to be registered under this Act, it shall so direct, and the Registrar shall thereupon register the applicant, and shall notify the applicant and the 20 Association accordingly.

(2) If the Board, after considering any application as aforesaid, is of opinion that the applicant is not entitled to be so registered it shall direct accordingly, and the Registrar shall thereupon refuse to register the applicant, and shall

25 notify him accordingly.

14. Register of Chiropractors—(1) Registration under this Act shall be effected by the entry in the Register of Chiropractors (which shall be kept by the Registrar) of the name and address of the applicant, of the qualifications by virtue of which he is registered, and of such other particulars as may be

30 which he is registered, and of such other particulars as may be prescribed.

(2) The Register of Chiropractors shall be open to inspection by the public during ordinary office hours on payment of the prescribed fee.

35 **15. Certificate of registration**—The Registrar shall on application in that behalf made to him at any time by a chiropractor, and on payment of the prescribed fee, issue to that chiropractor a certificate of registration.

16. Penalty for wrongfully procuring registration—Every person who wilfully makes or causes to be made any false entry in or falsification of the register, or procures or attempts to procure himself or any other other person to be registered under this Act by making or producing or causing to be made 5 or produced any false or fraudulent representation or declaration, either orally or in writing, commits an offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding three months or to a fine not exceeding fifty pounds.

17. Chiropractors to notify change of address—(1) Every 10 registered chiropractor who at any time changes his address as appearing on the register shall, within three months thereafter, send to the Registrar a notice of his new address, and the Registrar shall thereupon correct the entry in the register relating to that chiropractor accordingly. 15

(2) Every chiropractor who, without reasonable cause, fails to comply with the provisions of this section commits an offence and is liable to a fine not exceeding two pounds.

18. Name to be removed from register if chiropractor cannot be found—(1) The Registrar may at any time, and shall 20 if the Board so directs, send to any registered chiropractor, by registered letter addressed to him at his address as appearing on the register, an inquiry as to whether or not he desires to have his named retained on the register or has ceased to practise. 25

(2) If no reply is received to that letter within three months from the posting thereof, or if the letter is not delivered and is returned to the Registrar, the Registrar shall, if the Board so directs, remove from the register the name of the chiropractor to whom the letter was sent. 30

(3) If any registered chiropractor applies to the Registrar to have his name removed from the register, the Registrar shall, if the Board so directs, remove the name from the register.

(4) Any person whose name has been removed from the 35 register in pursuance of this section may apply to the Registrar to have his name restored to the register, and on payment of the prescribed fee his name shall be restored to the register accordingly.

19. Correction of register—If any person has been registered under this Act by reason of any false or fraudulent representation or declaration, made either orally or in writing, or if any person not entitled to be registered under
5 this Act has been so registered, the Board shall cause the name of that person to be removed from the register.

20. Removal of name from register or suspension where similar action taken outside New Zealand—(1) The Board may cause to be removed from the register the name of any 10 person registered under paragraph (b) of subsection one of section nine of this Act by virtue of a certificate or other documentary evidence of qualification issued before the commencement of this Act if the Board is satisfied that the certificate or other documentary evidence vidence of qualification has

15 been revoked or cancelled by the authority that granted it. (2) If the Board is satisfied that any certificate or other documentary evidence of qualification as aforesaid has been suspended for any period by the authority that granted it, the Board may suspend the registration under this Act of the

20 holder of the certificate or other documentary evidence of qualification for the same period or for any unexpired portion of that period.

(3) If any person registered under paragraph (a) of subsection one of section nine of this Act, by virtue of a

25 certificate of competency granted in New Zealand, has been authorised by any competent authority to practise his profession out of New Zealand and his right so to practise is thereafter suspended for any period, the Board may if it thinks fit suspend the registration under this Act for the same period

30 or for any unexpired portion of that period.

PART III

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

21. Preliminary consideration of disciplinary cases by Committee—If any person informs the Registrar in writing that
35 for reasons stated he has cause to suspect and does suspect

that any registered chiropractor—

 (a) Has been guilty of gross negligence or malpractice in respect of his calling; or

- (b) Has been convicted of any indictable offence punishable by imprisonment for a term of two years or more; or
- (c) Has been guilty of grave impropriety or misconduct, whether in respect of his calling or not.—

the Registrar shall forthwith forward a copy of the written information to each member of the Chiropractic Disciplinary Committee, and the Committee after due inquiry shall decide whether the information ought to be referred to the Board to be dealt with as hereinafter provided.

22. Disciplinary powers of Board—(1) In any case where the Chiropractic Disciplinary Committee refers any such written information to the Board, or where that Committee of its own motion informs the Board in writing that for reasons stated it has cause to suspect and does suspect that any of 15 the matters specified in paragraphs (a) to (c) of section twenty-one of this Act apply to any chiropractor, the Board shall forthwith cause to be served on the person named in the information—

(a) A notice requiring him to appear before the Board, at 20 a time and place to be specified, to show cause why his name should not be removed from the register, or why he should not be otherwise dealt with in accordance with this section:

(b) A copy of the said written information.

(2) If after due inquiry and after giving the person due opportunity to be heard, either in person or by counsel or otherwise, and to adduce evidence in his defence, the Board is satisfied either that the matters charged in the information are proved or that the conduct of the person charged has 30 been of such a nature as to render the exercise of the Board's powers under this section expedient, the Board may, by writing under the hand of either the Chairman of the Board or the chairman in respect of the meeting which makes the decision,— 35

- (a) Order that the person's name be removed from the register under this Act; or
- (b) Suspend his registration for a period not exceeding twelve months; or
- (c) Impose a penalty not exceeding fifty pounds.

10

55

40

25

5

(3) Every monetary penalty imposed by the Board under this section shall be recoverable as a debt due to the Crown, and shall be paid into the Public Account to be credited to the Consolidated Fund.

5 (4) While the registration of any person is suspended in accordance with this section he shall be deemed not to be registered.

(5) An order under this section shall not take effect in any case until the expiration of twenty-one days after the date of

- 10 the notification by the Board to the person affected of the making of the order, or until the expiration of such further period as the Board may allow. If within such period notice of appeal is given under section <u>twenty-three</u> of this Act, the order shall not take effect unless and until it is confirmed
- 15 by the Board of Appeal, with or without modification, under that section, or the appeal is for any reason dismissed by the Board of Appeal:

Provided that in any such case the order shall take effect from the date of the decision of the Board of Appeal or from 20 such other date as the Board of Appeal may fix.

23. Appeals from decisions of Board—(1) Every person (including the Association) who is dissatisfied with any decision of the Board under section thirteen of this Act, or relating to the removal of a chiropractor's name from the register, or

- 25 to the suspension of his registration, or to the imposition on him of any penalty, may, within twenty-one days after notice of the decision has been communicated to him by the Registrar, or within such further period as the Board either before or after the expiration of the said period of twenty-one days
- 30 may allow, give notice of appeal in the prescribed manner to the Registrar.

(2) On receipt of the notice of appeal the Registrar shall take all steps necessary for the constitution of a Board of Appeal, consisting of a Magistrate and two assessors. The

35 assessors shall be appointed in accordance with regulations under this Act to represent the Chiropractic Board and the appellant respectively.

(3) On any appeal under this section the appellant shall be entitled to be present and to be heard, and may if he40 thinks fit be represented by counsel or otherwise.

(4) The Board of Appeal so constituted shall as soon as practicable hear the appeal, and may confirm, reverse, or modify the decision of the Board, and may give any decision which the Board could have given under subsection two of section twenty-two of this Act.

(5) On any appeal under this section the decision of not less than two members of the Board of Appeal (including the Magistrate) shall be the decision of that Board, and that decision shall be final and conclusive.

(6) On any appeal under this section the Board of Appeal 10 may make an order for the payment by the Chiropractic Board, or by the appellant, of the costs incurred in respect of the appeal by the other party to the appeal, and in any such case the costs so awarded may be recovered as a debt due by the party against whom they have been awarded to 15 the party in whose favour they have been awarded.

(7) On any appeal under this section the Board and the Association may be heard and may be represented by counsel.

24. Registered chiropractors resuming practice after discharge from mental hospital—(1) If any registered chiro- 20 practor becomes an inmate of an institution under the Mental Health Act 1911, whether as a patient or as a voluntary boarder, he shall not thereafter resume the practice of his calling as a chiropractor without a licence in that behalf granted by the Board. 25

(2) Every person to whom this section relates who practises his calling as a chiropractor without having obtained a licence from the Board commits an offence and is liable to a fine not exceeding ten pounds and, if the offence is a continuing one, to a further fine not exceeding five pounds for every day on 30 which the offence has continued.

(3) Every person to whom this section relates shall, until the issue of a licence by the Board, be deemed not to be registered.

25. Offences by unregistered persons—(1) Every person 35 commits an offence and is liable to a fine not exceeding twenty pounds who, not being registered under this Act,—

(a) Describes himself or otherwise holds himself out as a chiropractor or chiropractic expert; or

-5

(b) Uses or causes or permits to be used in connection with his business, profession, or calling any written words, titles, or initials, or any abbreviation of words, titles, or initials, intended or likely to cause any person to believe that he is registered under this Act or that he is engaged in the practice of chiropractic, within the meaning of this Act, or that he is qualified to practise chiropractic.

(2) No person shall be convicted under this section of any10 offence committed before the first day of <u>April</u>, <u>nineteen</u> hundred and sixty-one.

26. Offence to advertise as teacher of chiropractic unless authorised by Board—Every person commits an offence and is liable to a fine not exceeding fifty pounds who describes him15 self or otherwise holds himself out as a teacher of chiropractic, or in any manner intended or likely to cause any other person to believe that he is qualified to give instruction to or to train persons in chiropractic, unless he is previously authorised in writing by the Board to give instruction or train persons as

20 aforesaid.

27. Chiropractors to have annual practising certificates— (1) In this section the term "year" means the period of twelve months beginning on the first day of April in any year and ending with the thirty-first day of March next following.

- 25 (2) No registered chiropractor shall, after the first day of April, nineteen hundred and sixty-one, be entitled in any year to act as a chiropractor unless he is the holder of an annual practising certificate issued in respect of that year.
- (3) Every person who acts or undertakes to act as a chiro-30 practor in breach of this section commits an offence and is liable to a fine not exceeding five pounds for every day on which the offence has continued.

(4) The Board, on application made to it by any registered chiropractor, shall issued to him an annual practising certifi-35 cate, which shall be in force during the year in respect of

which it is issued:

Provided that if at any time during the currency of any such certificate the holder thereof ceases to be registered under this Act the certificate shall be deemed to be cancelled.

40 (5) Every person entitled to receive an annual practising certificate under this section shall be deemed to have obtained that certificate when he has duly applied to the Board for it and has paid the prescribed fee.

28. Approval of training colleges, etc.—(1) The Board may approve as a training college or school for chiropractors any institution controlled or maintained by the Association or any other society or body of persons approved by the Board for the purpose, being an institution at which there is provided 5 a residential course of four college or school periods of eight months each, or more.

(2) The approval of any training college or school by the Board may be at any time revoked by the Board.

29. Offences punishable summarily—All proceedings in 10 respect of offences against this Act or against any regulations made under this Act shall be taken in a summary way, and shall be heard before a Magistrate.

30. Certificate of Registrar to be evidence of registration— A certificate under the hand of the Registrar to the effect 15 that any person is or is not registered or the holder of an annual practising certificate under this Act, or was or was not so registered or the holder of such a certificate at any particular time or during any period specified in the certificate, or as to any entry in the register kept under this Act, 20 or as to any act or proceeding of the Board or any committee of the Board, shall, until the contrary is proved, be sufficient evidence of the matters therein specified.

31. Licences under Radioactive Substances Act 1949—(1) Subsection one of section two of the Radioactive Sub- 25 stances Act 1949 is hereby amended by inserting, before the definition of the term "Council", the following definition:

" 'Chiropractor' means a person for the time being registered under the Chiropractors Act 1959:".

(2) Section sixteen of the Radioactive Substances Act 1949 30 is hereby amended by adding to subsection one the following paragraph:

"(e) Licences for chiropractic diagnostic purposes."

(3) The said section sixteen is hereby further amended by inserting, after subsection five, the following subsection:

35

"(5A) Licences for chiropractic diagnostic purposes may be granted only to chiropractors."

32. Application of fees, etc.—All fees and other money received under this Act shall be paid into the Public Account to the credit of the Consolidated Fund, and all expenses incurred in the administration of this Act shall be paid out

5 of money to be appropriated from time to time by Parliament for the purpose.

33. Regulations—(1) The Governor-General may from time to time, by Order in Council, make all such regulations as may in his opinion be necessary or expedient for giving full10 effect to the provisions of this Act and for the due administra-

tion thereof.

(2) Without limiting the general power hereinbefore conferred, it is hereby declared that regulations may be made under this section for all or any of the following purposes:

- (a) Prescribing the form of and the method of keeping the register under this Act, and providing for and regulating the correction of erroneous entries in the register and the entry thereon of particulars of any additional qualification obtained by any registered chiropractor:
 - (b) Prescribing the forms of applications, certificates, and other documents required under this Act and the manner in which notices may be served and the times when they shall be deemed to have been served:
 - (c) Prescribing the fees payable in respect of examination and of registration under this Act, in respect of the restoration of names after their removal from the register, and in respect of any other alteration of or addition to the register; and also in respect of any other matters under this Act:
 - (d) Prescribing the subject-matter of examinations to be conducted by the Board, the standards required to be obtained by successful candidates, the times when examinations will be held, and the conditions governing the grant of exemption from any of the requirements of the regulations or of the Board in relation to examinations:

- 25
- 30

- (e) Prescribing the conditions under which any institution may be approved as a training college or school for the purposes of this Act; and prescribing courses of training and instruction to be undergone by persons desirous of becoming qualified for registration 5 under this Act:
- (f) Regulating the procedure of the Board:
- (g) Providing such other matters as may be necessary for the efficient discharge by the Board of its duties and functions under this Act:
- (h) Providing for the appointment of assessors and regulating the conduct of appeals under section <u>twenty-</u> <u>three</u> of this Act:
- (i) Prescribing fines, not exceeding ten pounds in any one case, for the breach of any regulation made under 15 this Act.

(3) All regulations made under this Act shall be laid before Parliament.

34. Repeal and savings—(1) The Chiropractors' Association Act 1955 is hereby repealed.

20

10

(2) All matters and proceedings commenced under the said enactment, and pending or in progress on the commencement of this Act, may be continued, completed, and enforced under this Act.

WELLINGTON, NEW ZEALAND: Printed under authority of the New Zealand Government, by R. E. OWEN, Government Printer-1959